# BACK TO THE ROOTS

Belowground nutrient acquisition strategies of herbaceous plants along an N:P gradient



Master's Thesis by Daniil Scheifes



February, 2021 Utrecht

Daniil Jesse Peter Scheifes (422488) d.j.p.scheifes@uu.nl Utrecht University 45 ECTS

Supervisor: Prof. Martin J. Wassen Second reader: Dr. Ir. Mariska te Beest Sustainable Development -Ecosystems and Environmental Change

Cover image: root system drawings from left to right: (1) Rumex acetosa, (2) Potentilla erecta, (3) Juncus articulatus, (4) Succisa pratensis, (5) Ranunculus acris, (6) Crepis biennis.

1, 2, 4, 5, 6 from Kutschera & Lichtenegger, (1992); 3 from Kutschera & Lichtenegger, (1982).

## Summary

Since modern days, anthropogenic activity significantly alters the nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) cycle, and these changes are substantially affecting terrestrial plant communities. Along with potassium (K), N and P are key nutrients limiting plant growth. Plants occupy distinct niches along N:P ratio gradients, and their physiological adaptation to these environments could potentially help us understand current and future species composition within N- and P-limited soils. This is especially important due to the high concentration of threatened P-limited areas. It has been suggested that belowground rooting behaviour is oriented along a slow to fast growing spectrum. However, such one-dimensional view has not been able to explain the variation in root traits adequately. An improved two-dimensional conceptual framework was introduced to understand resource acquisition by incorporating plants' ability to cooperate with fungi. This framework discerned two largely independent gradients using four core traits: a conservation and a collaboration gradient. This framework has not been assessed from a nutrient stoichiometric perspective, neither has it been used to better understand the threatened status of species. For this, we retrieved twelve belowground traits from trait databases and linked them to a European-wide field dataset of 991 vegetation recordings with species composition, site productivity and biomass nutrient contents of herbaceous plant communities. First, our results confirm that threatened species tend to be concentrated in P-limited sites and species richness was highest at low productivity. Second, threatened species compared to non-threatened species do not possess different belowground traits. Third, using four core traits we demonstrate that a conservation and collaboration gradient can be identified on plant community level. Finally, we show that plant communities adopt a fast and do-it-yourself to a slow and outsourcing belowground strategy along an increasing N:P gradient. However, mycorrhizal traits provide contrasting results, questioning present understanding of fungal importance for belowground nutrient acquisition. Our results imply that, in addition to the benefit for fast-growing species in a nutrient-enriching world, anthropogenic alterations in the nutrient balance may also heavily affect species fitness and survival due to their nutrient-specific rooting strategies. The biggest remaining question is whether species will be able to adapt to changes in nutrient stoichiometry and if they can, how fast this adaptation process will be. Our analysis on threatened species seem to indicate that the answer on this question is not to be found belowground, but much more research is needed.

## Preface

One year ago, I was strolling through Periyar national park in India looking forward to my master's thesis starting in March 2020. I arranged to write my thesis at the research group of Jake Alexander, ETH Zurich, on plant trait variation along a climate gradient. I was ignorant at that time, not willing to see what was coming. Alongside the climate crisis, one of the largest humanitarian crisis hit our world. Covid-19 shattered future paths, where academic ecological-oriented research was fated to be mostly indoors behind a desk. Although these disappointing circumstances, Martin and Mariska were very supportive in finding a new topic. I obtained some knowledge on ecohydrology in my studies, but the belowground behavior of plants was new to me. As environmental scientist, it has always fascinated me how the environment shapes diversity in all its forms. While hidden under a layer of soil, plants belowground part is no exemption. Hopefully, my master's thesis can spark new academic research on plants nutrient acquisition strategies. I would like to thank Martin by taking me out in the open air when possible and helping me structuring my thoughts. Furthermore, my thesis relies heavily on previous work of Yuki Fujita. She has assisted me with some difficult concepts and provided me the statistical and programming skills to properly address my research questions. Finally, the university provided students with a study place. I owe a lot to this lucky opportunity, where number 82 was my second home.

Daniil Scheifes, Utrecht, 25th of February 2021

# Contents

List of Tables	VI
List of Figures	VII
Introduction	1
Problem definition	3
Research aims	4
Research questions	4
Hypotheses	5
Methods	7
Sample collection plant communities	7
Species and community-mean traits	9
Data analysis and statistics	11
Results	13
Species richness	13
Belowground traits of threatened and non-threatened species	14
Conservation and collaboration gradient on species and plant community level	15
Community-mean traits along an N:P gradient	16
Discussion	18
Species richness	18
Belowground traits threatened species	18
Conservation and collaboration gradients	19
Mycorrhizal traits	20
Explained variation	20
Conclusion	22
References	23
Appendix A: Plant synonyms	27
Appendix B: N:P and site productivity	28
Appendix C: Formulas Cohen's d and log-odds ratio	29
Appendix D: Gradients including productivity	30
Appendix E: Disputed and undisputed mycorrhiza	31
Appendix F: CMTV and N:P ratio including effects of productivity	32

# List of Tables

Table 1   Traits, categorization within the conservation and collaboration gradient, its rationale and				
proposed relationship.	6			
Table 2   List of functional belowground herbaceous plant traits.	10			
Table A1   List of 47 plant synonyms assessed using Iplant collaborative.	27			

# List of Figures

Figure 1   Conceptual reproduction of the framework of Bergmann et al. (2020) on resource acquisitio	n
strategies.	3
Figure 2   Map showing locations of data-collection for 991 plots.	7
Figure 3   Data analysis approach for relationship N:P ratio and community-mean trait.	12
Figure 4   Species richness affected by productivity and N:P ratio.	13
Figure 5   Difference in belowground trait values between threatened and non-threatened species.	14
Figure 6   Conservation and collaboration gradient using four key core traits represented in species ar community data.	nd 15
Figure 7   Community-mean trait values associated with a conservation gradient versus N:P ratio corrected for productivity.	16
Figure 8   Community-mean trait values associated with a collaboration gradient versus N:P ratio corrected for productivity.	17
Figure B1   Relationship between site productivity (biomass in $g/m^2$ ) and N:P ratio for 872 plots.	28
Figure D1   Conservation and collaboration gradient using four key core traits represented in commur data not corrected for productivity.	nity 30
Figure E1   Reanalysis of mycorrhizal association versus N:P ratio corrected for productivity.	31
Figure E2   Species mycorrhizal type along their N:P niche.	31
Figure F1   Community-mean trait values versus N:P ratio, not corrected for biomass.	32

## Introduction

Since modern days, anthropogenic activity significantly alters the nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) cycle and these changes are substantially affecting terrestrial plant communities (Vitousek et al., 2008). At this point, anthropogenic N fixation in terrestrial ecosystems exceeds fixation of all natural sources (Vitousek et al., 1997) and this large deposition of N has already shown to negatively affect species richness in these ecosystems (Stevens et al., 2004). While N has an abundant atmospheric pool, P can only be extracted limitary in a selected number of mines and is transported around the globe for fertilizer production (Elser, 2012). It is estimated that since pre-industrial times, humans have accelerated global P-input with 400% (Falkowski et al., 2000) and P pollution can seriously threaten biodiversity in terrestrial ecosystems (Ceulemans et al., 2014). Following Steffen et al. (2015), these alterations on the N and P cycle are momentarily exceeding the planetary boundaries allowing a safe human environment.

Along with potassium (K), N and P are key nutrients limiting plant growth (Elser et al., 2007). Plants need N and P for essential functions such as metabolism, energy storage, light absorption, and expression of genetic information (Sterner & Elser, 2002). The increase in availability of both nutrients could stimulate plant growth and productivity. The hump-backed model already indicated that high rates of productivity drastically reduce species diversity while an optimum is found at intermediate biomass production (Al-Mufti et al., 1977; Grime, 1973, 2001). Besides overall nutrient availability, the relative availability of N and P in plants biomass, also called nutrient stoichiometry and hereafter named N:P ratio, can be used as indicator to assess which nutrient is limiting for plant communities (Verhoeven et al., 1996). Concerning species richness, the highest number of species were observed in sites where N and P are co-limiting (Fujita et al., 2014) which can be explained by the resource balance hypothesis (Braakhekke & Hooftman, 1999). Threatened species tend to be mostly present in P-limited sites, indicating the importance of P fertilization in conservation management (Lannes et al., 2012; Wassen et al., 2005, 2021). One of the targets of the Sustainable Development Goal Life on Land is to prevent biodiversity loss and protect threatened species (UNDP, 2013). To achieve this target, it is crucial to improve knowledge on plant communities under varying N:P ratios.

Plants occupy distinct niches along N:P ratio gradient (Roeling et al., 2018), and must have, from an evolutionary perspective, responded physiologically to differences in nutrient availability to sustain fitness within these different environments. To understand how species have responded to these differences, the concept of functional traits could provide an insight. Functional traits are considered relevant to the response of such organisms to changes in their environment for their growth, reproduction and survival and are defined as morphological, physiological and phenological characteristics (Violle et al., 2007).

First, using the concept of traits, threatened species were smaller than non-threatened species and therefore poor competitors for light. Furthermore, they invest little in sexual reproduction traits and therefore have a low seed number and seed investment, short flowering period and a late flowering start

(Fujita et al., 2014). Second, P-limited plant communities also invest little in sexual reproduction traits (Fujita et al., 2014). This reduced sexual investment of plants in P-limited environments can be explained by the lack of P which is needed for reproductive material such as DNA. Furthermore, they had conservative leaf-economic traits: a low specific leaf area and high leaf dry-matter content (Fujita et al., 2014). Following the leaf economics spectrum, these leaf characteristics are associated with slow-growing species, which invest in a late resource return, compared to fast-growing species, which focus on quick resource acquisition (Wright et al., 2004). Increasing presence of slow-growing species in P-limited environments is in line with the Growth Rate Hypothesis (GRH). This states that species with a slow growth rate have a relatively low content of P-rich RNA, which is needed for growth, and therefore show low P concentrations and high N:P ratios (Main et al., 1997; Sterner & Elser, 2002). For this reason, there is a relationship between plants productivity and biomass N:P ratio.

Besides aboveground observed plant characteristics, the belowground part of the plant plays a key role in our understanding of plants fitness under different N:P ratios. This is especially the case because the primary function of the terrestrial belowground root system is to acquire soil-based resources such as N and P (Fitter, 2002). Nutrient acquisition by plant roots is the ability to mine the soil for these essential nutrients. Plants have evolved a wide range of belowground strategies to take up limiting nutrients by their roots (Bardgett et al., 2014).

As with leaf economic traits discussed earlier, it has been hypothesized that belowground traits can be categorized along a slow-fast growing spectrum (Reich, 2014). A belowground slow strategy is associated with long-lived thick roots, while a fast strategy shows long narrow roots with high metabolic rate. This one-dimensional framework, however, has not been able to explain the variation in root traits adequately, and a multidimensional framework is suggested (McCormack & Iversen, 2019; Weemstra et al., 2016).

Under P-limited conditions, plants fungal associations, also called mycorrhiza, are deemed to be of importance for P uptake (Ceulemans et al., 2011; Lambers et al., 2008; S. E. Smith et al., 2003) and enhances plants belowground nutrient-absorbing surface via their hyphae (S. E. Smith & Read, 2002). Fungal associations have been identified as an key evolutionary adaption for P-uptake by land plants (Smith et al., 2000), next to the availability of cluster roots (Lambers et al., 2008), and it is expected that 85 percent of vascular plants have gained this ability (Brundrett & Tedersoo, 2018). Plants under N limitation seem to rely less on fungal collaboration for their N uptake (Hawkins et al., 2000; Hodge, 2001) and show a high investment in their own root system (Minden & Olde Venterink, 2019; Olde Venterink & Güsewell, 2010; Ryser & Lambers, 1995), although contrasting results exist (Hodge et al., 2001). N fixation via microbial association is an example of a collaborative trait predominantly useful under low N availabilities (Rastetter et al., 2001). Besides a slow-fast growing spectrum, species seem to orient themselves along a second dimension focusing on the ability to cooperate with fungi or choose a self-oriented belowground strategy for nutrient acquisition.

Such a two-dimensional framework was introduced by discerning two belowground strategy gradients. (Bergmann et al., 2020). A conservation and a collaboration gradient were retrieved using only four core root traits (Fig. 1). The conservation gradient differentiates between species with a slow strategy, which have a high root tissue density (RTD) implying slow resource uptake and investment in long-living roots, and species with a fast strategy, that show high root nitrogen concentration (RN) implying high resource uptake but a short lifespan. The collaboration gradient ranges from an outsourcing strategy with a high root diameter (D) allowing carbon investment in fungal partners versus a do-ityourself soil exploration strategy which requires a high specific root length (SRL). These two gradients can be found independently of plant growth form or biome.



Figure 1 | Conceptual reproduction of the framework of Bergmann et al. (2020) on resource acquisition strategies. The conservation gradient ranges from a fast, with a high root nitrogen content (RN), to a slow strategy with high root tissue density (RTD). The collaboration gradient ranges from a do-it-yourself, with a high specific root length (SRL), till an outsourcing strategy with a high mean root diameter (D).

## **Problem definition**

This thesis will respond to three knowledge gaps. First, the effect of N:P ratio and productivity on species richness and threatened species have been studied with a limited dataset (Wassen et al., 2005). Although the effect of N:P ratio, corrected for productivity, on species richness has been re-examined (Fujita et al., 2014), it is unclear whether the effects of N:P ratio and productivity combined reproduce the same results. Second, aboveground traits were able to shed light on the possible explanation of the threatened status of species (Fujita et al., 2014). However, the effect of belowground traits for threatened species has not yet been assessed. It is unclear whether their threatened status could be explained by a weak belowground nutrient acquisition strategy making them poor competitors belowground.

Third, belowground traits capture multiple key dimensions of plants, but have been mostly underrepresented in large-scale comparative studies (Guerrero-Ramirez et al., 2020). Although, several large-scale studies have focussed on the role of nutrient availability on plant traits (Fujita et al., 2014; Ordoñez et al., 2009), such an analysis is missing for belowground traits. Studies on belowground traits under an N:P gradient, were either experimental studies with a limited number of species (Minden & Olde Venterink, 2019; Olde Venterink & Güsewell, 2010), or field studies with a limited number of sites (Treseder & Vitousek, 2001). More importantly, these studies have not been able to capture the influence of solely N:P, corrected for plants productivity, on belowground nutrient acquisition strategies with a focus on conservation and collaboration. Furthermore, although the conservation and collaboration gradients

have been demarcated on species level, it is unclear whether these gradients can also be observed on plant community level.

## **Research aims**

In this study it was aimed to:

- re-identify species richness along an N:P and productivity gradient by incorporating the red list status within the dataset. This repeated analysis provides a solid basis to better understand the next research aims.
- (2) examine the importance of belowground traits as explanation for the threatened status of species by linking twelve belowground functional traits to threatened and non-threatened species and compare them.
- (3) investigate whether the conservation and collaboration gradient are present on plant community level by assessing four core community-mean belowground traits using a principal component analysis.
- (4) understand how N:P ratio shape belowground strategies within herbaceous plant communities by assessing twelve community-mean belowground functional traits related to a conservation and collaboration gradient and compare them to N:P ratio, corrected for productivity.

This thesis had access to an extensive field vegetation dataset of 991 plots with species composition, site productivity and plants nutrient contents of herbaceous ecosystems.

## **Research** questions

To achieve these four aims, four research questions are formulated.

- (1) How does species richness vary with productivity and N:P ratio?
- (2) Can belowground traits explain the threatened status of species?
- (3) Is a conservation and collaboration gradient observed in our species dataset and can we demarcate these gradients on plant community level?
- (4) What is the relationship between N:P ratio, corrected for productivity, and twelve communitymean belowground traits related to a conservation and collaboration gradient?

## Hypotheses

First, it is hypothesized that a larger dataset produces the same results as Wassen et al. (2005) considering the relationship between N:P ratio, productivity, and species richness. The highest number of species is found at intermediate N:P ratio while the number and percentage of threatened species is highest in P-limited sites. Furthermore, highest number of species, threatened species and percentage of threatened species is retrieved at low productivity and declines at higher productivity.

Second, there is no knowledge on specific belowground behaviour of threatened species. However, as indicated by Fujita et al. (2014), the threatened status of species could be assigned to their low height, making them poor competitors for light. We hypothesise that threatened species are also weak competitors belowground which could explain their low canopy height, due to a general lower nutrient uptake. we expect that non-threatened species have a variety of belowground traits, while threatened species show less diversity. This should result in threatened species scoring significantly different for several belowground traits than non-threatened species.

Thirdly, the sampled plots in the dataset mostly originate from a temperate biome. A conservation and collaboration gradient have already been identified in a principal component analysis (PCA) for species from a temperate biome (Bergmann et al., 2020), therefore a similar result is expected. Next, it is hypothesized that these gradients are also present on plant community level because nutrient conditions within site will provide survival for plants with similar successful belowground strategies. We expect that the direction and length of the eigenvectors within the PCA for the community-mean trait variables are relatively conserved. The eigenvectors should be organized in the form of a cross, where RN to RTD is in a 90 degrees angle of D to SRL.

Fourthly, plant communities adopted conservative leaf-economic traits under P-limited conditions (Fujita et al., 2014). Following this aboveground reasoning, in addition to the GRH, it is expected that with increasing N:P gradient belowground strategy would shift from fast to slow. This would mean that traits such as root tissue density, root carbon concentration, root carbon-nitrogen ratio and root dry matter content, would increase, being associated with a slow belowground growth. In comparison, root N concentration and root mass fraction would decrease, which are associated with a fast belowground growth (literature supporting this hypothesis is provided in table 1).

Plants collaboration with fungi provides a key role for plants P uptake under P limitation. Therefore, it is expected that a high N:P gradient is associated with an outsourcing strategy for P uptake, where mean root diameter, mycorrhizal associations and mycorrhizal colonization intensity would increase. In contrast, specific root length, as indicator for a do it yourself strategy, would be decrease. Furthermore, N fixing is hypothesized to decrease along an N:P gradient due to its importance for N uptake, while cluster roots would increase due to its importance for P uptake (literature supporting this hypothesis is provided in table 1).

Table 1 | Traits, categorization within the conservation and collaboration gradient, its rationale and proposed relationship. It is hypothesizedthat traits associated with conservation and outsourcing strategies are increasing with N:P ratio. Cluster roots and N fixing being twoexemption on this expectation.

Trait	Gradient	Rationale	N:P
Root tissue density	Conservation	Proxy for long lasting tissue indicating a slow acquisition strategy	
		(Kramer-Walter et al., 2016; Wahl & Ryser, 2000).	
Root nitrogen concentration	Conservation	Is high under high metabolic rate, indicating fast growth (Reich et al.,	Ы
		2008).	
Root carbon concentration	Conservation	Relate to root longevity and enables longer life span (McCormack et	
		al., 2012).	
Root carbon-to-nitrogen ratio	Conservation	on Is negatively correlated to fast plant growth and respiration	
		(McCormack et al., 2012).	
Root mass fraction	Conservation	on Low investment in belowground root system (Minden & Olde	
		Venterink, 2019; Olde Venterink & Güsewell, 2010)	
Root dry matter content	Conservation	vation Used as proxy for RTD (Birouste et al., 2014).	
Mean root diameter	Collaboration	Provides intraradical habitat for arbuscular mycorrhizal (Kong et al.,	7
		2014).	
Specific root length	Collaboration	laboration Investment in thin roots that explore the soil (Ma et al., 2018).	
		Hypothesized to be important for N-limited soils (Ryser & Lambers,	
		1995).	
N Fixing	Collaboration	Useful under low N-availability (Rastetter et al., 2001).	Ы
Mycorrhizal association	Collaboration	tion Key evolutionary adaptation for P-uptake (F. W. Smith et al., 2000).	
Mycorrhizal colonization intensity	Collaboration	ion Is suppressed under high P-availability (Treseder & Vitousek, 2001). 7	
Cluster roots	Collaboration	Specific adaptation to p-limited environments (Lambers et al., 2008).	

## Methods

The methodology of this study, based on Fujita et al. (2014), consisted of several phases. First, sample collection within plant communities and plot selection is explained. Second, species trait data plus associated red list status supplementation and community-mean trait value calculation will be elaborated on. Third, the data analysis and statistics will be clarified.

## Sample collection plant communities

#### Dataset

This study builds on a dataset consisting of vegetation data on 643 herbaceous vascular plant communities. This data was sampled between 1992 and 2008 from a variety of countries. The samples contained herbaceous grasslands, fens, marshes, reed bed and dune-slack vegetation. This dataset was enriched by vegetation data of 151 plots which were collected between 1989 and 2017 in the Netherlands, Poland, Italy and France. In the summer of 2020, another 197 plots were sampled by vegetation field experts across The Netherlands and added to the dataset. This resulted in a total of 991 plots across 11 countries (Fig. 1). Due to the diverse characteristics of the dataset in time and space, the sampling methodology within the dataset can be slightly different. For this study, the methodology used this summer will be explained.



Figure 2 | Map showing locations of data-collection for 991 plots. The points are coloured by country. The number of plots per country are provided between brackets in the legend. Map was produced with QGIS and Natural Earth.

#### Sampling data

In every plot, species occurrence and abundance was noted. The sample size for species identification varied between 0.06 m<sup>2</sup> and 25 m<sup>2</sup>, and using experts' site-specific knowledge, plot size was determined to best capture site-specific species composition. The abundance was noted using different methods, such as Van der Maarel, Braun-blanquet, Londo and Tansley. If available, abundance conversion tables were used to convert these scales to numeric percentage cover estimates (Londo, 1976; van der Maarel, 1979). For

several methods, abundance conversion tables were not available and species abundance was estimated combining multiple scale descriptions.

Aboveground living plant biomass was used as proxy for plot nutrient availability and harvested following Wassen et al. (2005) by cutting 20x20 cm just above ground level. Woody plant parts or biomass from previous years were removed from the harvest. These samples were air-dried for several days in an open cardboard or plastic bag to prevent fungal infection. Afterwards, the samples were transferred to a standardized cardboard bag and dried for 48 hours on 70 degrees. The oven-dried samples were immediately measured on a Sartorius BP4100 to determine dry weight.

The dried samples were treated to determine N, P, and K values. The dried plant material was cut by Fritsch Cutting Mill Pulverisette 15 to prevent loss during crushing. A Herzog HP-Ma automatic pulverizing machine grounded the material to fine particles. The N concentration was determined in a subsample between 5 and 20 mg using a Fisons Instruments NA 1500 NCS analyser. The P and K content was calculated using an aqua regia digestion method. A subsample of 125 mg was digested in Teflon Jars for 24 hours using a mixture of 4,5 ml hydrochloric acid (HCL) and 1,5 ml nitric acid (HNO3) at 90 degrees. Afterwards P and K were determined using an ICP-OES spectrometer (PerkinElmer Avio 500).

### **Plots omitted**

We are interested in herbaceous plants species and N:P ratio. Therefore, any influence of K limitation or woody species on trait values was prevented by omitting plots when:

(1) woody species abundance made up 50 percent or more.

(2) they showed signs of K limitation. Plots were considered K-limited if N:K > 2.1 and K:P < 3.4 (critical values of Olde Venterink et al., 2003).

90 plots were assessed as K-limited, resulting in 872 valid plots.

## Species and community-mean traits

#### **Plant synonyms**

Next, all species were appointed a trait value from a variety of trait databases. Species can have several synonyms and therefore misidentification must be prevented. A unique species number provided by *NDFF verspreidingsatlas* (Tamis et al., 2004) was appointed to species within our species data and trait databases to assure correct trait supplementation. In addition, extra synonyms were determined using *The Taxonomic Name Resolution* of the *Iplant Collaborative* (Boyle et al., 2013; see appendix A, table A1 for an overview). Within 872 plots, 632 unique species and subspecies were identified.

#### **Threatened species**

National red lists for vascular plants of the designated countries were combined by Fujita et al. (2014) to create a new study-related red list. The list of Belgium was not included due to the position of the Belgium plots: they were close to the Dutch border, having comparable vegetation as the Dutch plots. Also, the list of Belarus was not included due to its relatively small number of plots and its resemblance to Polish vegetation. Due to the high proportion of Dutch plots in the database, the study-related red list was again updated with the most recent Dutch red list (Sparrius et al., 2014).

The reason for this non-regional approach was to eliminate regional habitat characteristics and focus on the fragile characteristics of these species susceptible to environmental change. Scarcity status was not considered to exclude species which are rare despite environmental change. Species were acknowledged to be threatened if their red list status was 'vulnerable', 'threatened' or 'critically threatened'.

#### **Trait supplementation**

Twelve functional belowground traits were collected from four databases (Table 2). Types of mycorrhiza on genus-level were determined by Soudzilovskaia et al. (2020). Species having a proven undisputed association such as arbuscular mycorrhiza (AM), ectomycorrhizal (EcM), orchid mycorrhiza (OM), and ericoid mycorrhiza (ErM) were transformed to 1; whereas no mycorrhiza (NM) or disputed mycorrhiza (NM-AM) were transformed to 0. Mycorrhizal colonization intensity represents the percentage of roots infected by AM and is only taken into consideration when infection was present. Therefore, species with a trait value of zero were excluded. Dauciform roots were included in the trait cluster roots due to its analogous function (Shane et al., 2006). Only a small number of species possessed this trait (n=10). For continuous traits, we assigned median values to species. Compared to the mean, this would be less sensitive to outliers or false measurements which are more common in datasets with low observations. For in-text abbreviation of traits, see table 2.

 Table 2 | List of functional belowground herbaceous plant traits. Twelve belowground traits were retrieved from four trait databases.

 Abbreviation after trait in brackets is provided for in-text reference. The traits are retrieved for a dataset with 632 herbaceous species. Due to low availability of trait data, nine traits were only covered by a limited number of species (between 18 and 34 percent). A: Guerrero-Ramirez et al., 2020; B: Tedersoo et al., 2018; C: Kattge et al., 2020; D: Soudzilovskaia et al., 2020

Trait	Scale Unit		% species	Source
Mean root diameter (D)	Continuous	mm	28	А
Specific root length (SRL)	Continuous	m g <sup>-1</sup>	28	А
Root tissue density (RTD)	Continuous	g cm <sup>-3</sup>	24	А
Root nitrogen concentration (RN)	Continuous	mg g <sup>-1</sup>	27	А
Root carbon concentration (C)	Continuous	mg g <sup>-1</sup>	23	А
Root carbon-to-nitrogen ratio (C:N ratio)	Continuous	mg g <sup>-1/</sup> mg g <sup>-1</sup>	18	А
Root mass fraction (RMF)	Continuous	g g <sup>-1</sup>	33	А
Root dry matter content (RDMC)	Continuous	g g <sup>-1</sup>	18	А
N fixing	Binary	1: nodulated species, 0: others	99	В
Mycorrhizal association	Binary	1: AM/EcM/ErM/OM, 0: NM/NM-AM	99	С
Mycorrhizal colonization intensity (M%)	Continuous	%	34	D
Cluster roots	Binary	1: ability cluster roots, 0: others	67	D

## Community-mean trait value

Combining species trait with plot data, an unweighted community-mean trait value (CMTV) was calculated using:

$$CMTV = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \frac{t_j}{a_j}$$

 $t_j$  is the specific trait value for species j and  $a_j$  is the availability of this trait in the dataset. We assigned a = 1 to species with available data and a = 0 if data was unavailable. The number of species within a plot is represented by n. This formula calculates CTMV for all plots, where  $t_j$  reflects the trait assessed. Woody species were excluded from the calculation.

To ensure normal distribution, D, C, RN, SRL, RMF, RTD and RDMC were log-transformed prior to CMTV calculations. Plots were omitted following two rules to ensure accurate calculations.

1. There were fewer than 3 species with available trait data:

$$\sum_{j=0}^n a_j < 3$$

2. The cover of herbaceous species with available trait value did not exceed 50 percent:

$$\frac{\sum_{j=0}^{n} a_j}{n} < 0.5$$

## Data analysis and statistics

## **Species richness**

Firstly, we would like to reproduce the analysis of Wassen et al. (2005). Species richness is approached using three biodiversity indices: total species count, number of threatened species and number of threatened species per total species (%). Fujita et al. (2014) used a quantile regression analysis to test the effect of N:P ratio corrected for productivity effects. In contrary, in this study N:P ratio was not corrected for productivity when assessing species richness. Furthermore, the relationship of productivity, provided by site biomass productivity, on species richness was assessed. Afterwards a LOESS curve was fitted to the data to assess the trend. In addition, the relationship between the percentage of threatened species and N:P ratio was tested with a linear regression model. To determine nutrient limitation for plots, critical values of Wassen et al. (2005) were used.

### Belowground traits of threatened and non-threatened species

Secondly, it was aimed to compare the belowground traits of threatened species with non-threatened species. The relative difference between traits of threatened and non-threatened were quantified by calculating the effect size. For continuous traits, Cohen's d was used as effect size measure (see Appendix C for formula and 95% confidence interval). Before analysis, D, RN, RTD, and RDMC were log-transformed; SRL, C:N ratio and RMF were square root transformed. All traits were normally distributed (p>0.05 with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). For binary traits, log-odds ratio was used as effect size measure (see Appendix C for formula and 95% confidence interval). Positive values indicate that threatened species have a higher trait value than non-threatened species.

#### Conservation and collaboration gradient on species and plant community level

Thirdly, we are interested in the existence of a conservation and collaboration gradient for four core CMTV traits (RTD, D, SRL, RN), corrected for productivity. First, a PCA was used to assess both the conservation and collaboration gradient within the species dataset. A PCA allows us to reduce multidimensional data to just two dimensions, with the arrows, or eigenvectors, of the variables pointing in the directions of increasing values. Four core traits, RTD, D, SRL and RN, were log- and Z-transformed with a mean of 0 and SD of 1 to sustain variance homogeneity. Subspecies were not included, resulting in 97 species with complete trait data. Traits were not corrected for a phylogenetic signal. Bergmann et al. (2020, see supplementary Figure 2) showed the same outcome when a phylogenetic signal was not included and is therefore, for simplicity, left out. Second, the four community-mean traits regressed for productivity were also Z-transformed with a mean of 0 and SD of 1. There were 279 complete cases.

#### Community- mean traits along an N:P gradient

Fourthly, it was aimed to determine the significance and explained variation of N:P on several community-mean traits. First, there is a relationship between the N:P ratio in plants biomass and the rate of growth of plants, also called the Growth Rate Hypothesis (GRH). The GRH states that fast-growing species are low in N:P biomass because fast growth requires P-rich RNA. Fast-growing species are mostly present under high productivity and therefore there is a correlation between the aboveground N:P biomass ratio and site productivity measured by aboveground productivity of biomass (g/m2) (see Appendix B, Fig. B1 for linear regression model). Because the interest of this thesis lies in the solely effect of N:P on CMTV (arrow *b* in Fig. 3), irrespectively of the growth rate, the effects of site productivity on N:P will be removed (arrow *a* in Fig. 3). Furthermore, site productivity



Figure 3 | Data analysis approach for relationship N:P ratio and community-mean trait. This schematic overview is based on Fujita et al. (2014). To assess the effect of N:P ratio on community-mean traits (arrow b), the effects of site productivity on community-mean traits and N:P ratio must be removed (arrow a and c). This achieved by comparing the residual values of N:P ratio and community-mean traits.

could influence CMTV directly by a high nutrient availability, and therefore must be corrected for (arrow *c* in Fig. 3). The proposed relationship has been tested by Fujita et al. (2014) and was assumed to be correct.

The relationship of the residuals of N:P regressed by productivity ( $res_{NP,P}$ ) and the residuals of communitymean traits regressed by productivity ( $res_{tr,P}$ ) were tested using a linear regression model. If the coefficient was significantly (p<0.05) different than zero, a relationship between N:P ratio and a community-mean trait was assumed to be present. Res<sub>tr,P</sub> was derived using a generalized linear model for continuous traits and a logistic model with negative binomial distribution for binary traits. Prior to analysis, N fixing was logtransformed and cluster roots was square-root-transformed. The residuals of the linear regression models were tested on normal distribution (p<0.05 with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). This was not the case for D, RMF, cluster roots, N fixing, %M and RTD, and for these traits the  $res_{tr,P}$  —  $res_{NP,P}$  relationship was again tested with Spearman's correlation analysis. To quantify the explained variation of N:P on communitymean traits, taking into consideration the effect of productivity on N:P and shared effect on communitymean traits, the measure of goodness-of-fit of the regression models was calculated. Log likelihood was used for logistic models (deviance) while R<sup>2</sup> was used for linear models (variance). Data analysis was performed in R, figures were made with ggplot2 (R Core Team, 2020).

## Results

## Species richness

N:P ratio within sites variated between 3.13 and 52.9 and most of the sampled sites were N-limited (67%), followed by Plimited (21%) and N/P co-limited (12%). 72% of the sites were low-productive, having a biomass between 2.25 and 500 g/m<sup>2</sup>. Species richness declines at high productivity, where optimum values for species richness indicators are found around 250 g/m<sup>2</sup>. The number of species and threatened species within sites is highest at low productivity, where both N, P and co-limitation follow the same trend (Fig. 4a, c). Further, the highest percentage of threatened species is found at low biomass where P-limited sites are especially sensitive to changes in productivity by steeply decreasing with biomass (Fig. 4e).

The highest number of species is found at intermediate N:P ratio between the transition from N-limitation to N/P colimitation and declines when sites become more P-limited (Fig. 4b). The number of threatened species shows a hump-shaped figure and first increases, having its peak at high N:P ratio, but declines afterwards (Fig.



Figure 4 | Species richness affected by productivity and N:P ratio. Total number of

herbaceous plants (**a** and **b**), number of threatened species (**c** and **d**) and percentage of threatened species (**e** and **f**) for 872 sites are plotted against biomass (g/m2) and N:P ratio. N-limited in blue (n=586), N/P co-limited in green (n=102) and P-limited in red (n=184). Coloured lines (**a**, **c**, **e**) represent trends along nutrient limited sites in corresponding colour; dotted line (**a**-**f**) represents trend of all sites combined (loess regression, span 2/3, degree 1).

4d). The percentage of threatened species increases with N:P ratio (Fig. 4f) and approaches a linear function (y=-0.86+2.08x, p<0.001,  $R^2=0.36$ ).

## Belowground traits of threatened and non-threatened species

From 632 unique identified species, 226 species were categorised as threatened (36%) versus 406 categorised as non-threatened (64%). Threatened species do not possess different belowground traits than non-threatened species (Whiskers do not exceed zero, Fig. 5a, b). Cohen's d and log-odds ratio for RTD and mycorrhizal association scored close to zero (0.02 and -.0.04) showing identical trait values between threatened and non-threatened species. SRL, RN, C, RMF and N fixing score lower while D, %M, C:N ratio and cluster roots score higher.



**Figure 5** | **Difference in belowground trait values between threatened and non-threatened species. (a)** Continuous traits were assed with Cohen's d and (b) binary traits with log-odds ratio. Distribution of threatened vs non-threatened species is from top to bottom: (a) 35/145, 38/137, 63/147, 38/131, 25/128, 31/113, 16/94, 50/162, 17/98 and (b) 225/403, 226/402, 141/278. Positive values indicate higher trait values for threatened species. Whiskers show a 95% confidence interval.

## Conservation and collaboration gradient on species and plant community level

On a subset of 97 species with complete data for the D, RN, SRL and RTD, a conservation and collaboration gradient can be determined (Fig. 6a). The collaboration gradient explained 43% of the variation while conservation gradient explained 35%. Both gradients together have a cumulative explanatory power of 77%. A plant community approach shows the eigenvectors being slightly tilted in comparison with the axes (Fig. 6b). Thus, principal components 1 and 2 were not able to reflect the gradients. However, the relative position of the variable eigenvectors is conserved, and therefore a collaboration gradient from SRL till D and a conservation gradient from RTD to RN can be distilled. These gradients are not aligned with the principal components but rotated 45% counter clockwise. This PCA is quite powerful to explain community-mean trait variation, with pc1 and pc2 having almost similar explanatory power (42% and 31%) as species' PCA.



**Figure 6** | **Conservation and collaboration gradient using four key core traits represented in species and community data.** (a) Principal component analysis using four core species traits: mean root diameter (D), root nitrogen concentration (RN), specific root length (SRL) and root tissue density (RTD). For 96 species the collaboration gradient (pc1) explained 42.6% of trait variation, the conservation gradient (pc2) explained 35.1%. (b) Principal component analysis using four community-mean core traits corrected for influence of productivity indicated with "res". For 279 sites, pc1 explained 42.3% and pc2 explained 31.5% of community-mean trait variation. The conservation gradient and collaboration gradient on community level do no follow both principal components but are rotated 45% counter clockwise, indicated by the dashed lines.

## Community-mean traits along an N:P gradient

Concerning community-mean traits associated with a conservation gradient, RTD (Fig. 7b), C (Fig. 7c), C:N ratio (Fig. 7d), and RDMC (Fig. 7f) increase significantly with N:P ratio while RN (Fig. 7a) decreases. RMF shows no significant relationship with N:P (Fig. 7e). Residuals from the model of RTD and RMF were not normally distributed (p<0.05 with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and again assessed using Spearman's correlation analysis. For RTD, the difference between both tests were negligible. However, in comparison with the linear regression model, a significant negative relationship was found for RMF (r = -0.13, p<0.001). Productivity and N:P ratio explain a relatively large part of the variation for C (30%) and RN (21%). For RTD, C:N ratio and RDMC, N:P ratio could only explain a small part of the variation (3%, 7% and 2%).



Figure 7 | Community-mean trait values associated with a conservation gradient versus N:P ratio corrected for productivity. Residual values regressed by productivity of six community-mean trait values are on they-axis and N:P ratio on the x-axis. The six traits associated to a conservation gradient are: root nitrogen concentration (a, n=402), root tissue density (b, n=335), root carbon concentration (c, n=321), root carbon-to-nitrogen ratio (d, n=262), root mass fraction (e, n=416) and root dry matter content (f, n=262). For the linear regression models, the standardized Beta coefficient is provided ( $\beta$ ) and its two tailed p-value (\*\*\*p<0.001; \*\*p<0.01; \*p<0.05; NS, Not Significant. The bars indicate the fraction of variance (a-f) for community-mean trait values explained by productivity and N:P ratio.

Concerning community-mean traits associated with a collaboration gradient, D (Fig. 8c) and cluster roots (Fig. 8f) increase significantly with N:P ratio, while SRL (Fig. 8a), mycorrhizal association (Fig. 8b), N fixing (Fig. 8d) and %M (Fig. 8e) significantly decrease. Residuals from the model of D, N fixing, %M and cluster roots were not normally distributed (p<0.05 with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and again assessed using Spearman's correlation analysis. This did not alter the outcome. The explained variation by productivity and N:P ratio for these traits were all below 20%, with D and SRL being 9% and 6%. D, mycorrhizal association, N fixing, %M and cluster roots show almost no explained variation by productivity and were solely explained by N:P ratio. N:P ratio could only explain 1% of variation in SRL.



Figure 8 | Community-mean trait values associated with a collaboration gradient versus N:P ratio corrected for productivity. Residual values regressed by productivity of six community-mean trait values are on they-axis and N:P ratio on the x-axis. The six traits associated to a collaboration gradient are: specific root length (a, n=379), mycorrhizal association (b, n=841), mean root diameter (c, n=404), N fixing (d, n=841), percentage root colonized by fungi (e, n=450) and cluster roots (f, n=828). for the linear regression models, the standardized Beta coefficient is provided ( $\beta$ ) and its two tailed p-value (\*\*\*p<0.001; \*p<0.05). The bars indicate the fraction of variance (a, c, e for continuous traits) or deviance (b, d, f for binary traits) for community-mean trait values explained by productivity and N:P ratio.

## Discussion

Although belowground traits have gained more interest, its influence on threatened species and nutrient acquisition strategies along an N:P ratio have not yet been fully understood. The aim of this thesis was to understand how N:P ratio shapes species richness, threatened status of species and belowground strategies within herbaceous communities. First, reproduction of the analysis of Wassen et al. (2005) showed similar results. Second, threatened species show no difference in belowground traits compared to non-threatened species. Third, both on species and plant community level, a conservation and collaboration gradient could be discerned. Fourth, our results indicate that herbaceous plant communities along an increasing N:P ratio, corrected for productivity, show a trend from a slow and outsourcing to a fast and do-it-yourself belowground strategy, although mycorrhizal traits show conflicting results.

## Species richness

Species richness along an N:P gradient was in line with the first hypothesis and so with previous studies (Fujita et al., 2014; Wassen et al., 2005, 2021). The total number of species is highest at intermediate N:P ratios, which was expected following the resource balance hypothesis (Braakhekke & Hooftman, 1999). The number and percentage of threatened species shows to be highest in P-limited areas. Compared to Wassen et al. (2005), the number of threatened species in sites is higher, especially in N-limited sites. Furthermore, a linear regression model of N:P ratio versus percentage of threatened species shows a tripling of the coefficient (from 0.77 to 2.08). This could be explained by the broader definitions for threatening status in this study or the increased knowledge on threatened status of several species. Overall, our results confirm that threatened species tend to be concentrated in P-limited sites. Besides managing overall nutrient availability, these results again indicate the importance of phosphor fertilization measures in present nature management to better protect threatened species.

## Belowground traits threatened species

The absence of belowground trait differences between threatened and non-threatened species did not follow the second hypothesis. While Fujita et al. (2014) has indicated that threatened species are smaller making them poor competitors, the results do not show any difference in belowground traits which could point to a poor belowground competitive position. This would indicate that, in comparison with several aboveground traits, both threatened and non-threatened species seem to compete equally for nutrients. If we would therefore assume that nutrient uptake is not different along species, an explanation of their threatened status seems to be found in the allocation of these nutrients. Fujita et al. (2014) has shown that threatened species invest little in their sexual reproduction, but this low investment seems not to be the consequence of a lower nutrient uptake. This would leave us with two explanations. Firstly, a low nutrient efficient use can be assigned to an inefficient sexual reproduction, where threatened species allocate the same nutrients to sexual production but yield lower effectively sexual traits for its fitness. Secondly, threatened species could allocate more nutrients to other functional traits compared to sexual reproduction traits but due to an inefficient nutritional use this does not improve its fitness. Both

explanations demand further research to understand the threatened status of species in P-limited sites and would help to improve threatened species protection management.

## Conservation and collaboration gradients

## PCA

The PCA of the four core community-mean traits reveal a conservation and collaboration gradient on plant community level. Bergmann et al. (2020) already showed that species possess an individual position for belowground nutrient acquisition strategies. This study shows this for our species dataset but also for plant communities. This is irrespectively of any effects of productivity, but the same can be concluded when these effects were included (see appendix D). The configuration of these four traits is conserved within a plant community perspective. This finding is important for communities (McGill et al., 2006). It is therefore encouraged to further investigate both gradients within a plant community perspective for several environmental factors.

## **Conservation gradient**

Nutrient acquisition strategies shift from fast to slow under increasing N:P ratio, irrespectively of productivity. This is confirmed by the relationship of RTD and RN with N:P ratio. This slow-fast trend along an N:P ratio has already been observed in leaf-economic traits associated with slow-growing species, such as specific leaf area and leaf dry matter content (Busch et al., 2018), regardless of nutrient availability (Fujita et al., 2014), and is now observed in belowground plant traits. This slow-to-fast shift is also confirmed by the relationship of C, C:N ratio and RDMC with N:P ratio. It must be again emphasized that this effect is present when corrected for confounding effects of nutrient availability. This means that a slow or fast leaf- and root-economic strategies is influenced by N:P gradient irrespectively of nutrient availability. More remarkable, fast-growing species are associated with a high metabolic rate which requires high N-input, and it is RN which is limited under low N:P. Reasons why N-limited plant communities, is not well understood. A possible explanation could lie in the GRH where fast-growing species are favored under low N:P ratios due to the demand of P-rich RNA (Main et al., 1997; Sterner & Elser, 2002).

### **Collaboration gradient**

Nutrient acquisition strategies shift from a do-it-yourself to an outsourcing strategy under increasing N:P ratio, irrespectively of biomass. The importance of fungal collaboration for P-uptake has already been suggested (Lambers et al., 2008; Lynch & Brown, 2008; S. E. Smith et al., 2003). By using D and SRL as proxy, this study shows an increasing outsourcing strategy in plant communities under increasing N:P ratio. At P-limitation, the cost of a do-it-yourself strategy via investment in a large root system, seems to not outweigh the merits of P acquisition. Increasing D indicates a symbiosis with fungi, and with this association plants can increase its absorbing rooting surface. It must be noticed that our results show that cluster roots and N fixing as specialized strategy are counter examples on both sides of the gradients: plant communities'

ability for symbiosis with N fixing bacteria is highest under low N:P ratios while the ability for specialized do-it-yourself cluster roots increases with N:P ratios.

## Mycorrhizal traits

However not in line with the hypothesis is a declining %M with N:P. If fungal associations are more important for sufficient P uptake under high N:P ratio, increasing %M along N:P ratio was expected. In fertilization experiments, %M have mostly been higher under increasing N availability (Blanke et al., 2012; Furlan & Bernier-Cardou, 1989; Treseder & Vitousek, 2001). Nevertheless, several studies show comparable results as ours (Blanke et al., 2005, 2011), indicating the importance of mycorrhiza for N-uptake (Hodge & Storer, 2015; S. E. Smith & Read, 2002). It has been hypothesized by Treseder and Allen (2002) that when N or P is limited for plants, fungal collaboration is maintained. This would indicate %M to be highest at both N:P extremes. This is not the case in our data, hinting at high fungal collaboration solely at N-limitation.

Furthermore, plants' communal ability for mycorrhizal associations is declining with N:P gradient. First, it was tested if the scoring of NM and NM-AM was the underlying reason by assigning 1 point to NM-AM associations instead of 0. This did however not change the declining trend (see appendix E, Fig. E1). NM and NM-AM are overrepresented in specialized environments as habitat and nutritional specialists (Brundrett & Tedersoo, 2018) and plants with specialized alternative strategies such as cluster roots stop interaction with AM fungi (Werner et al., 2018). Therefore, second, it could be argued that P-limited species are more likely to be nutritional specialists, where, for example, cluster roots are a specific adaptation (Lambers et al., 2008; Neumann & Martinoia, 2002). We expect that NM and NM-AM species are more likely to be P-limited in comparison with species having undisputed mycorrhiza, such as AM, EcM, ErM and OM. To check this, the N:P niche of the species was compared to its mycorrhizal association. Species with NM and NM-AM have a significantly higher N:P niche position than species with undisputed mycorrhiza (moderate effect size, see Appendix E). Combining this with a declining plants' communal ability for mycorrhizal association along an N:P gradient, it would suggest that P-limited sites can be considered specialized habitats, where most species lose their mycorrhizal association and gain specialized alternative belowground strategies. Besides cluster roots, it is unclear what specific adaptations are common for Plimited species. One example is the investment in root exudates, such as phosphatases and carboxylates, which allows species to enhance chemical soil properties for P-uptake (Lambers et al., 2006). Overall, these mycorrhizal traits questions present understanding of fungal importance for nutrient acquisition under Plimitation.

## **Explained variation**

The relationship of several core traits, D, RTD and SRL, with N:P ratio seem to follow the hypotheses, but the explained variation by N:P is low (between 1% and 6%). We think this low explained variation could be assigned to, first, the incoherent data sampling nature of the GRoot database. This database possesses trait data from a variety of sources having distinct factors such as soil conditions, plant age or research

design (situ or in pots). This is especially important for root nutrient concentration and biomass allocation, which are most plastic under nutrient limitation (Kramer-Walter & Laughlin, 2017). It is expected that in an experimental design with controlling factors, N:P ratio should explain a larger variation than is presented in this study. Similar to Olde Venterink and Minden (2019), we recommend an experiment under different nutrient ratios for a variety of species to assess the importance of belowground strategies on species fitness, with a focus on a conservation and collaboration gradient.

Second, the low explained variation could be allocated to the sparse availability of root traits which only partially supplemented our species dataset (between 18 and 33 percent for nine traits). Furthermore, for a considerable proportion of species only a few observations were included in the databases, making species trait values less accurate. For example, this could explain the large outliers for several community-mean traits such as D (Fig. 8c) and RMF (Fig. 7f). We therefore strongly recommend increasing belowground trait sampling especially for D, RTD, SRL and RN to increase knowledge on belowground nutrient acquisition strategies. This is most pressing for P-limited species, which are underrepresented in root trait databases. This would increase complete cases for the four core traits, allowing to calculate corresponding principal component values. These values could function as a proxy for nutrient acquisition strategies, assisting further belowground analysis within plant communities.

Our results imply that, in addition to the benefit for fast-growing species in a nutrient-enriching world, anthropogenic alterations in the nutrient balance may also affect species fitness and survival due to their nutrient-specific rooting strategies. Relationships between community-mean traits and N:P ratio is also observed without any correction for productivity (appendix F). This denotes the importance of belowground plant behaviour for conservational practices within nature, where N:P ratio and productivity areas are inseparable. The biggest remaining question is whether species will be able to adapt to changes in nutrient stoichiometry and if they can, how fast this adaptation process will be. Our analysis on threatened species seems to indicate that the answer on this question is not to be found belowground, but much more research is needed.

## Conclusion

First, our results confirm that threatened species tend to be concentrated in P-limited sites and species richness was highest at low productivity. Second, threatened species compared to non-threatened species do not possess different belowground traits. Third, using four core traits we demonstrate that a conservation and collaboration gradient can be identified on plant community level. Finally, we show that plant communities in P-limited sites have adopted a slow and outsourcing belowground strategy, whereas N-limited plant communities show a fast and do-it-yourself belowground strategy. However, mycorrhizal traits provide contrasting results, questioning present understanding of fungal influence on belowground nutrient acquisition. Anthropogenic alterations in the nutrient balance may affect species fitness and survival due to their nutrient-specific rooting strategies. Our analysis on threatened species seem to indicate that species are able to adapt belowground, but much more research is needed.

## References

- Al-Mufti, M. M., Sydes, C. L., Furness, S. B., Grime, J. P., & Band, S. R. (1977). A Quantitative Analysis of Shoot Phenology and Dominance in Herbaceous Vegetation. *Journal of Ecology*, 65(3), 759–791. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2259378</u>
- Bardgett, R. D., Mommer, L., & de Vries, F. T. (2014). Going underground: Root traits as drivers of ecosystem processes. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 29(12), 692–699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.10.006</u>
- Bergmann, J., Weigelt, A., van der Plas, F., Laughlin, D. C., Kuyper, T. W., Guerrero-Ramirez, N., Valverde-Barrantes, O. J., Bruelheide, H., Freschet, G. T., Iversen, C. M., Kattge, J., McCormack, M. L., Meier, I. C., Rillig, M. C., Roumet, C., Semchenko, M., Sweeney, C. J., van Ruijven, J., York, L. M., & Mommer, L. (2020). The fungal collaboration gradient dominates the root economics space in plants. *Science Advances*, *6*(27), eaba3756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aba3756</u>
- Birouste, M., Zamora-Ledezma, E., Bossard, C., Pérez-Ramos, I. M., & Roumet, C. (2014). Measurement of fine root tissue density: A comparison of three methods reveals the potential of root dry matter content. *Plant and Soil*, *374*(1–2), 299–313. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1874-y
- Blanke, V., Bassin, S., Volk, M., & Fuhrer, J. (2012). Nitrogen deposition effects on subalpine grassland: The role of nutrient limitations and changes in mycorrhizal abundance. *Acta Oecologica*, 45, 57–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2012.09.002</u>
- Blanke, V., Renker, C., Wagner, M., Füllner, K., Held, M., Kuhn, A. J., & Buscot, F. (2005). Nitrogen supply affects arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization of Artemisia vulgaris in a phosphate-polluted field site. *New Phytologist*, *166*(3), 981–992. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01374.x</u>
- Blanke, V., Wagner, M., Renker, C., Lippert, H., Michulitz, M., Kuhn, A. J., & Buscot, F. (2011). Arbuscular mycorrhizas in phosphatepolluted soil: interrelations between root colonization and nitrogen. *Plant and Soil*, 343(1), 379–392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-011-0727-9</u>
- Boyle, B., Hopkins, N., Lu, Z., Raygoza Garay, J. A., Mozzherin, D., Rees, T., Matasci, N., Narro, M. L., Piel, W. H., Mckay, S. J., Lowry, S., Freeland, C., Peet, R. K., & Enquist, B. J. (2013). The taxonomic name resolution service: An online tool for automated standardization of plant names. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 14(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-14-16</u>
- Braakhekke, W. G., & Hooftman, D. A. P. (1999). The resource balance hypothesis of plant species diversity in grassland. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *10*(2), 187–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3237140</u>
- Brundrett, M. C., & Tedersoo, L. (2018). Evolutionary history of mycorrhizal symbioses and global host plant diversity. *New Phytologist, 220*(4), 1108–1115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14976</u>
- Busch, V., Klaus, V. H., Penone, C., Schäfer, D., Boch, S., Prati, D., Müller, J., Socher, S. A., Niinemets, Ü., Peñuelas, J., Hölzel, N., Fischer, M., & Kleinebecker, T. (2018). Nutrient stoichiometry and land use rather than species richness determine plant functional diversity. *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(1), 601–616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3609</u>
- Ceulemans, T., Merckx, R., Hens, M., & Honnay, O. (2011). A trait-based analysis of the role of phosphorus vs. nitrogen enrichment in plant species loss across North-west European grasslands. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *48*(5), 1155–1163. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.02023.x
- Ceulemans, T., Stevens, C. J., Duchateau, L., Jacquemyn, H., Gowing, D. J. G., Merckx, R., Wallace, H., van Rooijen, N., Goethem, T., Bobbink, R., Dorland, E., Gaudnik, C., Alard, D., Corcket, E., Muller, S., Dise, N. B., Dupré, C., Diekmann, M., & Honnay, O. (2014).
   Soil phosphorus constrains biodiversity across European grasslands. *Global Change Biology*, *20*(12), 3814–3822. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12650
- Elser, J. J. (2012). Phosphorus: A limiting nutrient for humanity? In *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* (Vol. 23, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2012.03.001
- Elser, J. J., Bracken, M. E. S., Cleland, E. E., Gruner, D. S., Harpole, W. S., Hillebrand, H., Ngai, J. T., Seabloom, E. W., Shurin, J. B., & Smith, J. E. (2007). Global analysis of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of primary producers in freshwater, marine and terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters*, 10(12), 1135–1142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01113.x</u>
- Falkowski, P., Scholes, R. J., Boyle, E., Canadell, J., Canfield, D., Elser, J., Gruber, N., Hibbard, K., Högberg, P., Linder, S., Mackenzie, F. T., Moore III, B., Pedersen, T., Rosenthal, Y., Seitzinger, S., Smetacek, V., & Steffen, W. (2000). The Global Carbon Cycle: A Test of Our Knowledge of Earth as a System. *Science*, 290(5490), 291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.290.5490.291</u>
- Fitter, A. (2002). Characteristics and Functions of Root Systems. In K. U. Waisel Y, Eshel A (Ed.), *Plant Roots: the hidden half* (2nd ed.). Marcel Dekker Publishers.

- Fujita, Y., Olde Venterink, H., van Bodegom, P. M., Douma, J. C., Heil, G. W., Hölzel, N., Jabłońska, E., Kotowski, W., Okruszko, T., Pawlikowski, P., de Ruiter, P. C., & Wassen, M. J. (2014). Low investment in sexual reproduction threatens plants adapted to phosphorus limitation. *Nature*, 505(7481), 82–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12733</u>
- Furlan, V., & Bernier-Cardou, M. (1989). Effects of N, P, and K on formation of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae, growth and mineral content of onion. *Plant and Soil*, 113(2), 167–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02280177</u>
- Grime, J. P. (1973). Competitive Exclusion in Herbaceous Vegetation. *Nature*, 242(1), 344–347.
- Grime, J. P. (2001). Plant strategies, vegetation processes, and ecosystem properties (2nd ed.). Chichester : Wiley.
- Guerrero-Ramirez, N. R., Mommer, L., Freschet, G. T., Iversen, C. M., McCormack, M. L., Kattge, J., Poorter, H., Plas, F. van der, Bergmann, J., Kuyper, T. W., York, L. M., Bruelheide, H., Laughlin, D. C., Meier, I. C., Roumet, C., Semchenko, M., Sweeney, C. J., Ruijven, J. van, Valverde-Barrantes, O. J., ... Weigelt, A. (2020). Global Root Traits (GRooT) Database. *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.05.17.095851
- Hawkins, H.-J., Johansen, A., & George, E. (2000). Uptake and transport of organic and inorganic nitrogen by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Plant and Soil*, *226*(2), 275–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026500810385</u>
- Hodge, A. (2001). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi influence decomposition of, but not plant nutrient capture from, glycine patches in soil. New Phytologist, 151(3), 725–734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0028-646x.2001.00200.x</u>
- Hodge, A., Campbell, C. D., & Fitter, A. H. (2001). An arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus accelerates decomposition and acquires nitrogen directly from organic material. *Nature*, 413(6853), 297–299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35095041</u>
- Hodge, A., & Storer, K. (2015). Arbuscular mycorrhiza and nitrogen: implications for individual plants through to ecosystems. *Plant* and *Soil*, *386*(1), 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-014-2162-1</u>
- Kattge, J., Bönisch, G., Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., Prentice, I. C., Leadley, P., Tautenhahn, S., Werner, G. D. A., Aakala, T., Abedi, M., Acosta, A. T. R., Adamidis, G. C., Adamson, K., Aiba, M., Albert, C. H., Alcántara, J. M., Alcázar C, C., Aleixo, I., Ali, H., ... Wirth, C. (2020). TRY plant trait database enhanced coverage and open access. *Global Change Biology*, *26*(1), 119–188. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14904
- Kong, D., Ma, C., Zhang, Q., Li, L., Chen, X., Zeng, H., & Guo, D. (2014). Leading dimensions in absorptive root trait variation across 96 subtropical forest species. *New Phytologist*, 203(3), 863–872. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12842</u>
- Kramer-Walter, K. R., Bellingham, P. J., Millar, T. R., Smissen, R. D., Richardson, S. J., & Laughlin, D. C. (2016). Root traits are multidimensional: specific root length is independent from root tissue density and the plant economic spectrum. *Journal of Ecology*, 104(5), 1299–1310. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12562</u>
- Kramer-Walter, K. R., & Laughlin, D. C. (2017). Root nutrient concentration and biomass allocation are more plastic than morphological traits in response to nutrient limitation. *Plant and Soil*, 416(1), 539–550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-017-3234-9</u>
- Kutschera, L., & Lichtenegger, E. (1982). Wurzelatlas mitteleuropäischer Grünlandpflanzen. Bd. 1: Monocotyledoneae. Gustav Fischer.
- Kutschera, L., & Lichtenegger, E. (1992). Wurzelatlas mitteleuropäischer Grünlandpflanzen. Bd. 2/1: Pteridophyta und Dicotyledoneae, Teil 2, Anatomie. Gustav Fischer.
- Lambers, H., Raven, J. A., Shaver, G. R., & Smith, S. E. (2008). Plant nutrient-acquisition strategies change with soil age. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 23(2), 95–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.tree.2007.10.008</u>
- Lannes, L. S., Bustamante, M. M. C., Edwards, P. J., & Venterink, H. O. (2012). Alien and endangered plants in the Brazilian Cerrado exhibit contrasting relationships with vegetation biomass and N : P stoichiometry. *New Phytologist*, *196*(3), 816–823. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04363.x
- Londo, G. (1976). The decimal scale for releves of permanent quadrats. *Vegetatio*, 33(1), 61–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00055300
- Lynch, J. P., & Brown, K. M. (2008). Root strategies for phosphorus acquisition. In J. P. Hammond & P. J. White (Eds.), *The* ecophysiology of plant-phosphorus interactions (Vol. 7, pp. 83–116). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8435-5\_5</u>
- Ma, Z., Guo, D., Xu, X., Lu, M., Bardgett, R. D., Eissenstat, D. M., McCormack, M. L., & Hedin, L. O. (2018). Evolutionary history resolves global organization of root functional traits. *Nature*, *555*(7694), 94–97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature25783</u>
- Main, T. M., Dobberfuhl, D. R., & Elser, J. J. (1997). N : P stoichiometry and ontogeny of crustacean zooplankton: A test of the growth rate hypothesis. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 42(6), 1474–1478. <u>https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1997.42.6.1474</u>

- McCormack, M. L., Adams, T. S., Smithwick, E. A. H., & Eissenstat, D. M. (2012). Predicting fine root lifespan from plant functional traits in temperate trees. *New Phytologist*, 195(4), 823–831. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04198.x</u>
- McCormack, M. L., & Iversen, C. M. (2019). Physical and Functional Constraints on Viable Belowground Acquisition Strategies. Frontiers in Plant Science, 10, 1215. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpls.2019.01215</u>
- McGill, B. J., Enquist, B. J., Weiher, E., & Westoby, M. (2006). Rebuilding community ecology from functional traits. *Trends in Ecology* & *Evolution*, 21(4), 178–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.02.002</u>
- Minden, V., & Olde Venterink, H. (2019). Plant traits and species interactions along gradients of N, P and K availabilities. *Functional Ecology*, 33(9), 1611–1626. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13387</u>
- Neumann, G., & Martinoia, E. (2002). Cluster roots an underground adaptation for survival in extreme environments. *Trends in Plant Science*, 7(4), 162–167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(02)02241-0</u>
- Olde Venterink, H., & Güsewell, S. (2010). Competitive interactions between two meadow grasses under nitrogen and phosphorus limitation. *Functional Ecology*, *24*(4), 877–886. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01692.x</u>
- Olde Venterink, H., Wassen, M. J., Verkroost, W. M., & de Ruiter, P. C. (2003). Species Richness-Productivity Patterns Differ between N-, P-, and K-Limited Wetlands. *Ecology*, 84(8), 2191–2199. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1890/01-0639</u>
- Ordoñez, J. C., van Bodegom, P. M., Witte, J.-P. M., Wright, I. J., Reich, P. B., & Aerts, R. (2009). A global study of relationships between leaf traits, climate and soil measures of nutrient fertility. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *18*(2), 137–149. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2008.00441.x
- R Core Team. (2020). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Rastetter, E. B., Vitousek, P. M., Field, C., Shaver, G. R., Herbert, D., & gren, G. I. (2001). Resource Optimization and Symbiotic Nitrogen Fixation. *Ecosystems*, 4(4), 369–388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-001-0018-z</u>
- Reich, P. B. (2014). The world-wide "fast-slow" plant economics spectrum: A traits manifesto. *Journal of Ecology*, *102*(2), 275–301. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12211
- Reich, P. B., Tjoelker, M. G., Pregitzer, K. S., Wright, I. J., Oleksyn, J., & Machado, J.-L. (2008). Scaling of respiration to nitrogen in leaves, stems and roots of higher land plants. *Ecology Letters*, *11*(8), 793–801. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01185.x</u>
- Roeling, I. S., Ozinga, W. A., van Dijk, J., Eppinga, M. B., & Wassen, M. J. (2018). Plant species occurrence patterns in Eurasian grasslands reflect adaptation to nutrient ratios. *Oecologia*, *186*(4), 1055–1067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-018-4086-6</u>
- Ryser, P., & Lambers, H. (1995). Root and leaf attributes accounting for the performance of fast- and slow-growing grasses at different nutrient supply. *Plant and Soil*, *170*(2), 251–265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00010478</u>
- Shane, M. W., Cawthray, G. R., Cramer, M. D., Kuo, J., & Lambers, H. (2006). Specialized "dauciform" roots of Cyperaceae are structurally distinct, but functionally analogous with "cluster" roots. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 29(10), 1989–1999. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2006.01574.x</u>
- Smith, F. W., Rae, A. L., & Hawkesford, M. J. (2000). Molecular mechanisms of phosphate and sulphate transport in plants. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Biomembranes*, 1465(1), 236–245. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2736(00)00141-3</u>
- Smith, S. E., & Read, D. J. (2002). 5 Mineral nutrition, heavy metal accumulation and water relations of VA mycorrhizal plants. In Sally E Smith & D. J. Read (Eds.), *Mycorrhizal Symbiosis (Second Edition)* (pp. 126–160). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012652840-4/50006-1</u>
- Smith, S. E., Smith, F. A., & Jakobsen, I. (2003). Mycorrhizal fungi can dominate phosphate supply to plants irrespective of growth responses. *Plant Physiology*, 133(1), 16–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.103.024380</u>
- Soudzilovskaia, N. A., Vaessen, S., Barcelo, M., He, J., Rahimlou, S., Abarenkov, K., Brundrett, M. C., Gomes, S. I. F., Merckx, V., & Tedersoo, L. (2020). FungalRoot: global online database of plant mycorrhizal associations. *New Phytologist*, *227*(3), 955–966. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16569</u>
- Sparrius, L., Odé, B., & Beringen, R. (2014). Basisrapport Rode Lijst Vaatplanten 2012 volgens Nederlandse en IUCN-criteria. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.19320.96006

- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R., de Vries, W., de Wit, C. A., Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G. M., Persson, L. M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., & Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, 347(6223), 1259855. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1259855</u>
- Sterner, R. W., & Elser, J. J. (2002). Ecological Stoichiometry. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctt1jktrp3
- Stevens, C. J., Dise, N. B., Mountford, J. O., & Gowing, D. J. (2004). Impact of Nitrogen Deposition on the Species Richness of Grasslands. Science, 303(5665), 1876–1879. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1094678</u>
- Tamis, W. L. M., van der Meijden, R., Runhaar, J., Bekker, R. M., Ozinga, W. A., Odé, B., & Hoste, I. (2004). Standaardlijst van de Nederlandse flora 2003. *Gorteria: Tijdschrift Voor Onderzoek Aan de Wilde Flora*, *30*(4–5).
- Tedersoo, L., Laanisto, L., Rahimlou, S., Toussaint, A., Hallikma, T., & Pärtel, M. (2018). Global database of plants with root-symbiotic nitrogen fixation: NodDB. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *29*(3), 560–568. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12627</u>
- Treseder, K. K., & Allen, M. F. (2002). Direct nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: a model and field test. *New Phytologist*, *155*(3), 507–515. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.2002.00470.x</u>
- Treseder, K. K., & Vitousek, P. M. (2001). Effects of soil nutrient availability on investment in acquisition of N and P in Hawaiian rain forests. *Ecology*, *82*(4), 946–954. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2001)082[0946:EOSNA0]2.0.C0;2</u>

UNDP. (2013). SDG Goal 15. Sustainable Development Goals, 53(9), 1689–1699. https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09781107415324.004

- van der Maarel, E. (1979). Transformation of cover-abundance values in phytosociology and its effects on community similarity. *Vegetatio*, *39*(2), 97–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00052021</u>
- Verhoeven, J. T. A., Koerselman, W., & Meuleman, A. F. M. (1996). Nitrogen- or phosphorus-limited growth in herbaceous, wet vegetation: Relations with atmospheric inputs and management regimes. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, *11*(12), 494–497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(96)10055-0</u>
- Violle, C., Navas, M.-L., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I., & Garnier, E. (2007). Let the concept of trait be functional! *Oikos*, 116(5), 882–892. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2007.0030-1299.15559.x</u>
- Vitousek, P. M., Aber, J. D., Howarth, R. W., Likens, G. E., Matson, P. A., Schindler, D. W., Schlesinger, W. H., & Tilman, D. G. (1997). Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: Sources and consequences. *Ecological Applications*, 7(3), 737–750. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(1997)007[0737:HAOTGN]2.0.CO;2
- Vitousek, P. M., Mooney, H. A., Lubchenco, J., & Melillo, J. M. (2008). Human domination of Earth's ecosystems. *Urban Ecology: An International Perspective on the Interaction Between Humans and Nature*, 277(July), 3–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-73412-5\_1</u>
- Wahl, S., & Ryser, P. (2000). Root tissue structure is linked to ecological strategies of grasses. *New Phytologist*, *148*(3), 459–471. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.2000.00775.x
- Wassen, M. J., Olde Venterink, H., Lapshina, E. D., & Tanneberger, F. (2005). Endangered plants persist under phosphorus limitation. *Nature*, 437(7058), 547–550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03950</u>
- Wassen, M. J., Schrader, J., van Dijk, J., & Eppinga, M. B. (2021). Phosphorus fertilization is eradicating the niche of northern Eurasia's threatened plant species. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 5(1), 67–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-01323-w</u>
- Weemstra, M., Mommer, L., Visser, E. J. W., van Ruijven, J., Kuyper, T. W., Mohren, G. M. J., & Sterck, F. J. (2016). Towards a multidimensional root trait framework: a tree root review. *New Phytologist*, 211(4), 1159–1169. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14003</u>
- Werner, G. D. A., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Cornwell, W. K., Soudzilovskaia, N. A., Kattge, J., West, S. A., & Kiers, E. T. (2018). Symbiont switching and alternative resource acquisition strategies drive mutualism breakdown. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 115(20), 5229–5234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1721629115</u>
- Wright, I. J., Reich, P. B., Westoby, M., Ackerly, D. D., Baruch, Z., Bongers, F., Cavender-Bares, J., Chapin, T., Cornelissen, J. H. C., Diemer, M., Flexas, J., Garnier, E., Groom, P. K., Gulias, J., Hikosaka, K., Lamont, B. B., Lee, T., Lee, W., Lusk, C., ... Villar, R. (2004). The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. *Nature*, *428*(6985), 821–827. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02403</u>

# Appendix A: Plant synonyms

Table A1 | List of 47 plant synonyms assessed using Iplant collaborative (Boyle et al., 2013).

1	Agrostis capillaris	17	Anisantha sterilis		Polygonum mite
	Agrostis tenuis		Bromus sterilis	35	Leontodon hispidus
2	Pilosella officinarum	18	Caltha palustris subsp. palustris		Leontodon saxatilis
	Hieracium pilosella		Caltha palustris	36	Euphrasia officinalis
3	Betula pendula	19	Odontites vernus subsp. serotinus		Euphrasia rostkoviana
	Betula verrucosa		Odontites vulgaris	37	Calamagrostis canadensis
4	Leucanthemum vulgare	20	Galium x pomeranicum		Calamagrostis langsdorfii
	Chrysanthemum leucanthemum		Galium pomeranicum	38	Cnidium dubium
5	Lotus pedunculatus	21	Lotus glaber		Selinum dubium
	Lotus uliginosus		Lotus tenuis	39	Aster bellidiastrum
6	Myosotis scorpioides subsp. scorpioides	22	Fallopia convolvulus		Bellidiastrum michelii
	Myosotis palustris		Polygonum convolvulus	40	Allium suaveolens
7	Mentha x verticillata	23	Persicaria hydropiper		Allium ericetorum
	Mentha verticillata		Polygonum hydropiper	41	Allium schoenoprasum
8	Dactylorhiza praetermissa	24	Persicaria minor		Allium montanum
	Dactylorhiza majalis subsp.		Polygonum minus	42	Conyza sumatrensis
	praetermissa				
	Orchis praetermissa	25	Persicaria maculosa		Conyza daveauana
9	Bolboschoenus maritimus		Polygonum persicaria		Erigeron sumatrensis
	Scirpus maritimus	26	Rhinanthus alectorolophus	43	Heracleum sphondylium
					subsp. sibiricum
10	Brachypodium pinnatum		Rhinanthus major		Heracleum sibiricum
	Bromus pinnatum	27	Rhinanthus angustifolius	44	Bromopsis inermis subsp.
					inermis
11	Taraxacum officinale		Rhinanthus serotinus		Bromopsis inermis
	Taraxacum vulgare	28	Rumex sanguineus		Bromus inermis
12	Rumex triangulivalvis		Rumex nemorosus	45	Galium palustre
	Rumex salicifolius	29	Isolepis setacea		Galium elongatum
13	Juncus alpinoarticulatus		Scirpus setaceus	46	Gnaphalium luteoalbum
	Juncus alpinoarticulatus subsp.	30	Utricularia intermedia		Gnaphalium luteo-album
	alpinoarticulatus				
	Juncus alpinus		Utricularia media	47	Ceratocapnos claviculata
	Juncus alpino-articulatus	31	Dactylorhiza maculata		Corydalis claviculata
14	Bromopsis erecta		Dactylorhiza maculata subsp. maculata		
	Bromus erectus		Orchis maculata		
15	Galium mollugo subsp. erectum	32	Persicaria amphibia		
	Galium mollugo		Polygonum amphibium		
	Galium album	33	Persicaria lapathifolia		
16	Bromus hordeaceus		Polygonum lapathifolium		
	Bromus hordeaceus subsp. hordeaceus	34	Persicaria mitis		

## Appendix B: N:P and site productivity

The relationship between N:P and site productivity in the dataset of 872 plots is provided in Figure B1. As depicted by the growth rate hypothesis, N:P ratios significantly (p<0.001) decreases with site productivity. To assess the effect of solely N:P ratio on CMTV, the productivity effect on N:P ratio is removed.



Figure B1 | Relationship between site productivity (biomass in g/m<sup>2</sup>) and N:P ratio for 872 plots. Linear regression model (y=-0.20x+3.48) shows to be significant (p<0.001) with R<sup>2</sup>=0.23.

## Appendix C: Formulas Cohen's d and log-odds ratio

The equations and descriptions are a direct copy of Fujita et al. (2014) and were unchanged for this study. See their extended methods for further information and in-text citation.

Cohen's d was computed as:

$$d = \frac{\mu_{\rm e} - \mu_{\rm n}}{\sqrt{\frac{N_{\rm e} - 1 \cdot s_{\rm e}^2 + N_{\rm n} - 1 \cdot s_{\rm n}^2}{N_{\rm e} + N_{\rm n}}}}$$

where  $\mu_e$  and  $\mu_n$  are the mean trait values of threatened and non-threatened species respectively,  $N_e$  and  $N_n$  are the numbers of threatened and non-threatened species respectively, and  $s_e$  and  $s_n$  are the standard deviations of threatened and non-threatened species respectively. 95% confidence intervals of Cohen's d were calculated by means of non-centrality parameters (*ncp*) for which the t-value is at the lower or upper 0.025 level (*ncp*.025 and *ncp*.975). Lower and upper values of *d*, *d*<sup>\*</sup>.025 and d<sup>\*</sup>.975, were computed as:

$$d^{*}_{.025} = ncp_{.025} \cdot \sqrt{\frac{1}{N_{e}} + \frac{1}{N_{n}}}$$
$$d^{*}_{.975} = ncp_{.975} \cdot \sqrt{\frac{1}{N_{e}} + \frac{1}{N_{n}}}$$

**Log-odds** ratio,  $\ln \omega$ , was computed as:

$$\ln \omega = \ln \left( \frac{a_{\rm e} + \frac{1}{2}}{b_{\rm e} + \frac{1}{2}} \right) - \ln \left( \frac{a_{\rm n} + \frac{1}{2}}{b_{\rm n} + \frac{1}{2}} \right)$$

where  $a_e$  and  $b_e$  are the numbers of threatened species with binary values 1 and 0, respectively, and  $a_n$  and  $b_n$  are the numbers of non-threatened species with binary values 1 and 0, respectively. Standard error of the ln $\omega$  was calculated as:

$$s_{\ln\omega} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{a_{\rm e} + \frac{1}{2}} + \frac{1}{b_{\rm e} + \frac{1}{2}} + \frac{1}{a_{\rm n} + \frac{1}{2}} + \frac{1}{b_{\rm n} + \frac{1}{2}}}$$

95% confidence intervals of log-odds ratios were computed as  $\ln \omega \pm 1.96 s_{\ln \omega}$ .

## Appendix D: Gradients including productivity



Figure D1 | Conservation and collaboration gradient using four key core traits represented in community data not corrected for productivity. Principal component analysis (PCA) using four community-mean core traits: average mean root diameter (ave D), average root nitrogen concentration (ave RN), average specific root length (ave SRL) and average root tissue density (ave RTD), not corrected for influence of productivity. For 279 sites, pc1 explained 42.6% and pc2 explained 32.8% of community-mean trait variation. The conservation gradient and collaboration gradient do no follow both principal components but are rotated 45% counter clockwise, indicated by the dashed lines. These results are similar to PCA of community-mean trait values corrected for productivity.

## Appendix E: Disputed and undisputed mycorrhiza

The regression model was again executed with NM-AM scoring 1 instead of 0. Despite a higher beta-value (from -0.387 to -0.165) and lower explained variation by N:P (from 6.7% to 1.3%), a significant negative trend is still present (Fig. E1). This would indicate that NM and especially NM-AM species are more present at higher N:P ratios.



Figure E1 | Reanalysis of mycorrhizal association versus N:P ratio corrected for productivity. Residual values regressed by productivity of mycorrhizal association (n=841) on the y-axis and N:P ratio on the x-axis. Mycorrhizal association is reanalysed where species with NM-AM score 1 and NM score 0. For the linear regression models, the standardized Beta coefficient is provided ( $\beta$ ) and its two tailed p-value (\*\*\*p<0.001). The bars indicate the fraction of deviance for mycorrhizal association values explained by productivity and N:P ratio.

Figure E2 shows "Undisputed mycorrhiza" (AM, EcM, OM, and EM) or "No or disputed mycorrhiza" (NM and NM-AM) along species' N:P niche position. It is hypothesized that "No or disputed mycorrhiza" has a higher N:P niche position than "Undisputed mycorrhiza". Following Roeling et al. (2018), we calculated the N:P niche position of species by the mean of all plots in which it was present. Only species which were present in more than 10 sites were included. N:P niche position was log-transformed and checked on normal distribution (p>0.05 with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and equality of variances (p<0.05 with F-test). An unpaired two samples t-test confirms the hypothesis (p<0.001), with a moderate effect size (d=0.5).



**Figure E2** | **Species mycorrhizal type along their N:P niche.** AM, EcM, OM, and EM were categorized as "Undisputed mycorrhiza" (n=126), NM and NM-AM as "No or disputed mycorrhiza" (n=102). We calculated the N:P niche position of species by the mean of all plots in which it was present. Only species which were present in more than 10 sites were included

# Appendix F: CMTV and N:P ratio including effects of productivity



Figure F1 | Community-mean trait values versus N:P ratio, not corrected for biomass. Community-mean trait values are on they-axis and N:P ratio on the x-axis. The tested traits are root nitrogen concentration (a, n=402), root tissue density (b, n=335), specific root length (c, n=379), mycorrhizal association (d, n=841), root carbon concentration (e, n=321), root carbon-to-nitrogen ratio (f, n=262), mean root diameter (g, n=404), N fixing (h, n=841), root mass fraction (i, n=416) and root dry matter content (j, n=262), percentage root colonized by fungi (k, n=450) and cluster roots (I, n=828). RN, RTD, SRL, C, C:N ratio, D, RMF and RDMC were log-transformed prior to community-mean trait calculation. For the generalized linear regression model, the standardized Beta coefficient is provided ( $\beta$ ) and its two tailed p-value (\*\*\*p<0.001; \*\*p<0.01; \*p<0.05; NS, Not Significant).